
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Stas Burgiel, Ph.D. <stas@iisd.org>, Peter Doran, Ph.D. <peter@iisd.org>, Holly
Kaufman <holly@iisd.org>, Prisna Nuengsigkapian <prisna@iisd.org>, Lavanya Rajamani <lavanya@iisd.org>, Richard Sherman <rsherman@icon.co.za> and Andrey
Vavilov, Ph.D. <andrey@iisd.org>. The Digital Editors are Franz Dejon <franz@iisd.org>, David Fernau <david@iisd.org> and Leila Mead <leila@iisd.org>. The Editor
is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Operations
Manager is Marcela Rojo <marcela@iisd.org> and the On-Line Assistant is Diego Noguera <diego@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are The Nether-
lands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Land-
scape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development – DFID), the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Danish Ministry of
Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through the German Federal Ministry of Environment – BMU, and the German Federal Ministry of Development
Cooperation – BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin during 2002 is provided by the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Finland, the Government of
Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade of New Zealand, the Ministries of
Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, Swan International, and the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies –
IGES). Special funding for coverage of WSSD is provided by the Government of Sweden. The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at <enb@iisd.org>; tel: +1-212-644-
0204; and fax: +1-212-644-0206. IISD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada.
The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD and other funders. Excerpts from the
Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For permission to use this material in
commercial publications, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services. Electronic versions of the Bulletin are sent to e-mail distribution lists and can be found on the
Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca. Satellite image provided by The Living Earth, Inc. For information on the Earth Negotiations Bulletin or to arrange
coverage of a meeting, conference or workshop, send e-mail to the Director, IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org> or call to +1-212-644-0217.

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 22 No. 44 Wednesday, 28 August 2002

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

WSSD
#3

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/2002/wssd/

ENB 10th Anniversary 1992-2002

WSSD HIGHLIGHTS
TUESDAY, 27 AUGUST 2002

Delegates to the World Summit on Sustainable Development 
(WSSD) convened in two Partnership Plenaries to address agricul-
ture and cross-sectoral issues. The Vienna setting convened in 
morning, afternoon and evening sessions to continue negotiations 
on outstanding paragraphs in the draft Plan of Implementation. The 
contact groups on means of implementation and institutional 
arrangements also continued their deliberations.

PARTNERSHIP PLENARIES 
AGRICULTURE: Nkosazana Dlamini Zuma (South Africa) 

presided over and Jan Pronk, Special Envoy of the WSSD Secre-
tary-General, moderated the Partnership Plenary, which included 
presentations by experts, commentary by resource persons and 
general discussion by delegations. 

Presentations: M.S. Swaminathan, M.S. Swaminathan 
Research Foundation, highlighted agriculture’s role in guarding 
against poverty and the polarization of agribusiness and small-
scale farming cultures. He called for trade policies that support 
micro-enterprises, value-added agricultural products, and retention 
of youth in farming. He urged the New Partnership for Africa’s 
Development (NEPAD) to include national community food 
banks, and the Group of Eight (G-8) to focus on achieving goals to 
foster sustainable agriculture in developed countries. Pedro 
Sanchez, Millennium Development Goals Hunger Task Force, 
stated that declining soil fertility in Africa is a leading cause of 
underproduction and hunger, and proposed remediating fertilizer 
deficiencies in small-scale ways by 2015. He recommended that 
small farmers grow high-value crops and that large-scale farmers 
grow lower-value crops such as grains. He suggested redirecting 
some of the US$1 billion per day spent on agriculture subsidies in 
North America and Europe to ending hunger and poverty in devel-
oping countries. 

Panel Discussion: A number of resource persons expressed 
concern about free trade and subsidies, and one said subsidies help 
make up for low world prices and that market entry is as important 
as access. Speakers distinguished between agricultural workers 
and farmers; called for consideration of both on- and off-farm 
employment; and highlighted the role of women in addressing 
problems related to privatized water, genetic pollution and land 
tenure. Speakers noted that business partnerships could include 
cooperatives, national companies and multinationals. Speakers 
called for limiting patent protection, government protection of 
traditional farming, and elimination of the threat to indigenous 
communities and seeds from genetically-modified organisms. 

Plenary Discussion: Pronk requested delegates to focus on 
issues relating to small farmers and governance issues in devel-
oped countries. Regarding small farmers, AUSTRIA, TANZANIA 
and the UK highlighted the importance of infrastructure develop-
ment in rural areas. TANZANIA and the UK underscored the need 
for credit financing for small farmers. COTE D’IVORE and the 
UK stressed the importance of stabilizing land tenure, and SOUTH 
AFRICA called for land rights for women. The representative of 
BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY suggested focusing on economic 
empowerment.

On governance issues, CAPE VERDE, ETHIOPIA and 
MALAWI urged increased mobilization of resources in the devel-
oped world, and SYRIA urged technology transfer. Several coun-
tries highlighted the challenge of improved market access, and 
called for the reduction of subsidies in developed countries. 
TANZANIA, SENEGAL and the INDIAN MOVEMENT noted 
that while developing countries are required to phase out subsidies, 
developed countries continue providing subsidies to their farmers. 
The EC highlighted the need for new trade rules focused on 
increasing market access and decreasing trade-distorting support. 
The UK that OECD countries provide US$350 billion in subsidies 
per year, but said this signified the scope for improvement in 
market access. AUSTRALIA noted the benefits of ‘good subsi-
dies’ such as those for research and development. ETHIOPIA 
stressed the need for international cooperation on food security and 
market stability. IRAQ noted the negative agricultural and envi-
ronmental impacts of economic blockades. The CONSULTATIVE 
GROUP ON INTERNATIONAL AGRICULTURAL 
RESEARCH recommended focusing on research to find solutions.

CROSS-SECTORAL ISSUES: Chair Srganj Kerim (former 
Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia) presided over the afternoon 
plenary that discussed: finance/trade, technology transfer, 
consumption and production patterns, education, science, 
capacity-building and information.  

Panel Discussion: The panel of resource persons said that new 
research was needed on natural, social and economic systems and 
their interactions, as the status of observational data is worse than it 
was ten years ago. They noted that UN agencies, and cooperation 
among them, can help with information-gathering and dissemina-
tion, education and the integration of scientific and traditional 
knowledge. Speakers warned against the trend of science 
becoming market-driven. Speakers noted that resolving gender 
inequality is a necessary condition of sustainable development. 
They said that governments should establish policy frameworks, 
including on corporate accountability.  One speaker noted the 



Wednesday, 28 August 2002  Vol. 22 No. 44 Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

greater prominence of business at the WSSD than in Rio, due in 
part to increased public demand for accountability. Speakers also 
discussed the implications of Doha, globalization, scientific 
progress, and the divide between rich and poor.  

Plenary Discussion: Several countries stressed the need for: 
technology transfer, financial assistance and capacity building; 
improved market access; debt relief; and funds for halting desertifi-
cation. BOTSWANA stressed that the benefits of financial assis-
tance and debt reduction must reach people. NORWAY supported 
doubling development assistance and increasing market access. 

FINLAND supported a 10-year target for sustainable consump-
tion and production patterns, and stressed the need to explore the 
link between poverty and consumption. YUGOSLAVIA noted the 
importance of cross-sectoral solutions. The INTERNATIONAL 
FEDERATION OF UNIVERSITY WOMEN noted that the male 
paradigm is a cause for women’s impoverishment, and called for 
their right to development. JAPAN emphasized three approaches 
underlying its policies: human resource development; ownership 
and solidarity in development; and the notion that today’s compla-
cency would be tomorrow’s plight. NEPAL suggested inter alia: 
rooting development in the cultural values and priorities of people; 
developing equitable incentives to encourage environmentally 
sound and sustainable behavior; and enlisting participation of all 
relevant parties. The EUROPEAN SPACE AGENCY highlighted 
the importance of data, and the US stressed the key role of informa-
tion in decision-making. BUSINESS ACTION FOR SUSTAIN-
ABLE DEVELOPMENT called for ‘responsible prosperity.’

MAIN COMMITTEE
The Main Committee deferred negotiations to the Vienna 

setting and the contact groups on the means of implementation and 
institutional arrangements. 

Editor’s Note: Coverage of the negotiations ended at 10:00 pm.
VIENNA SETTING
Changing Unsustainable Patterns of Consumption and 

Production: Regarding time-bound targets for renewable energy 
resources (19(e)), the facilitator noted a draft formulation refer-
encing a global increase of renewables to at least 15% by 2010 and 
a 2% increase in renewables within industrialized countries by 
2010 relative to 2000. Both developing and developed countries 
were split on their support for such targets. Those developed coun-
tries opposing a target called for flexibility in national policies, and 
some developing countries noted potential adverse economic 
impacts and highlighted access to energy as a priority. Developed 
countries supporting the targets questioned arguments about 
adverse economic effects and stated that the global and industrial-
ized country targets provide leeway for developing countries. A 
group of developing countries called for more ambitious time-
bound targets, highlighting the importance of energy autonomy. No 
agreement was reached.

Regarding the adoption of national policies with timetables to 
phase out energy subsidies (19(p)bis), a number of countries 
supported deleting the provision, arguing that it is overly prescrip-
tive, especially as more general language on energy subsidies is 
agreed (19(p)). Some developed countries again noted the need for 
specific actions within the draft Plan of Implementation. Delegates 
also disagreed over referencing the framework from CSD-9 or 
developing other recommendations (19(s)) in defining further steps 
for implementation. Regarding the promotion of partnership coop-
eration, the informal consultations generally agreed to work on the 
basis of paragraph 19(w), although differences still remain.

The facilitator of the informal side consultations on the sound 
management of chemicals (22, 22 (h)) reported that no consensus 
had been achieved and referred outstanding text back to the Vienna 
setting. Developing countries could not agree to the time-bound 
target of 2020 (22), while a developed country delegation 
expressed its intention to adjust its position in support of the target. 
Several developed countries proposed modifying the target date, 
while one delegate proposed replacing the 2020 medium-term 
target with language on a long-term goal for the sound management 
of chemicals. The group could not agree on language addressing 
the manner in which chemicals are to be used and produced to 
ensure they significantly reduce or do not lead to adverse effects on 
human health and the environment (22). The group agreed to delete 
brackets on text renewing commitments to the sound management 
of chemicals as outlined in Agenda 21. Delegates could not agree to 
language addressing an appropriate international response to the 
reduction of risks posed by heavy metals (22(h)). Developing coun-
tries highlighted concerns that this text could prejudge the 
outcomes of the UNEP global assessment on mercury.

Protecting and Managing the Natural Resource Base: After 
a small group consultation facilitated by South Africa and a lengthy 
debate in the Vienna setting, delegates were still unable to resolve 
differences in the first paragraph of the chapter (23). The Chair and 
delegations put forth numerous proposals, but delegates could not 
agree on the different formulations. Developing countries initially 
would not accept a reference to reversing the trend of resource 
degradation but agreed to it after the Chair suggested qualifying the 
statement with “in an effort to” reverse the trend. Several delega-
tions underscored the target date and the ecosystem approach, 
while others emphasized that natural resource degradation could 
not be measured as a whole and that the ecosystem approach was 
irrelevant in this general opening paragraph. Delegates finally 
decided to revert to the original small group consultation reformu-
lation of the paragraph, which has text remaining in brackets 
concerning: reversing the current trend in natural resource degrada-
tion; a 2015 target date; reference to the ecosystem approach with 
application of precaution; and integration of strategies and 
programmes.

Delegates finalized text concerning fisheries (30) and (30(e)), 
following several proposals, including one by developing countries 
to consider the “rights of coastal States and special requirements of 
developing coastal States.” After lengthy discussion, delegates 
agreed to adhere to UNCLOS language giving due consideration to 
the “rights, duties, and interests of coastal states,” but debated 
whether to reference the specific UNCLOS article in the text. Dele-
gates decided against the reference. The final text also includes 
consideration of “special requirements of developing States.” As 
part of the package, bracketed language on achieving “equitable” 
fisheries in the chapeau (30) was removed.

Sustainable Development for Africa: Delegates agreed to 
support Africa’s efforts to implement the NEPAD energy access 
target to secure access for at least 35% of the African population 
within 20 years through establishing and promoting programmes, 
partnerships and initiatives (56(j) and (i)). The group agreed to 
assist African countries in mobilizing resources for: adaptation to 
the adverse affects of climate change; extreme weather events; sea 
level rise; climate variability; development of national climate 
change strategies; mitigation programmes; and actions to prevent 
adverse climate changes in Africa (56(k)). 

Developed and developing countries failed to reach consensus 
on text to support African efforts to protect universally-agreed 
human rights (56(a)). Regarding bracketed language on health care 



Vol. 22 No. 44 Page 3 Wednesday, 28 August 2002
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

(58(a)), developing countries preferred reference to health care 
services, while one developed country supported health care and 
services.

Delegates almost adopted text on efforts to attain sustainable 
tourism in accordance with obligations under the CBD, CITES and 
regional biodiversity agreements, through, inter alia, supporting 
the conservation of Africa’s biological diversity; the sustainable 
use of biodiversity; as well as the fair and equitable sharing of 
benefits arising from the utilization of genetic resources (64(e)). 
Reference to commitments or obligations remains unresolved.

CONTACT GROUP ON INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGE-
MENTS: Within the contact group on Chapter X of the draft Plan 
of Implementation, co-chaired by Lars-Göran Engfeldt (Sweden) 
and Ositadinma Anaedu (Nigeria), intermissions were used for 
small group consultations on parts of the text, which were continu-
ously revisited. The group failed to reach agreement on any 
outstanding paragraphs, though some progress was made towards 
compromise language.

The group had an extensive debate on the paragraph related to 
the rule of law and human rights (121(b) and (d)).  A group of dele-
gations proposed a short formula on the rule of law and strength-
ening institutions, with other delegations insisting on retaining the 
notion of human rights as a separate element in this paragraph or 
elsewhere in the text. The issue was deferred. Several versions 
were proposed for language on integrating the social dimension of 
sustainable development, and on the ILO Declaration on funda-
mental principles and rights at work (122(g)). A group of delega-
tions suggested using text based on the first part of the paragraph, 
as reference to the ILO document was already addressed in para-
graph (9(b)). Other delegates supported retaining specific reference 
to the ILO. Discussion was inconclusive. 

A group of countries tabled new text on good governance at the 
international level (123), which includes a revised chapeau and 
subparagraphs (d) on a convention on corruption and illicit funds, 
and (g) in support of multilateralism. No substantive discussion of 
the draft was held. Alternative language was explored on the provi-
sion regarding ECOSOC’s role in the WSSD and Monterrey 
Consensus follow-up (126(f)), with reference to “agreements and 
commitments” remaining a sticking point. Existing text on partner-
ships (138(b)) was addressed again, with a country group 
suggesting a shorter version, emphasizing that partnerships should 
not substitute for government commitments. Another group 
proposed moving this paragraph to the section dealing with the 
CSD, and other delegations supported a provision designed to 
monitor follow-up of partnerships.

CONTACT GROUP ON MEANS OF IMPLEMENTA-
TION: The contact group, facilitated by John Ashe (Antigua and 
Barbuda), convened in the evening to consider a revised draft of his 
paper on finance, trade and globalization. Ashe suggested that 
unresolved issues may be referred to Ministers. This was chal-
lenged by one of the delegations, who asked if the facilitator was 
planning to bypass the Vienna-style process.

In a sentence in the introductory paragraph acknowledging the 
need for significant increases in financial resources, one delegation 
proposed deleting a reference to “in the flow” of financial 
resources; and replacing “to” with “in” developing countries. He 
explained that resources are not only provided “to” but are also 
generated within countries. The facilitator questioned the resulting 
formulation: “new and additional financial resources in developing 
countries.” The proposer agreed to accept the original reference to 
resources, “in particular to developing countries.” On environmen-
tally-sound technologies, the same delegation proposed: replacing 

a reference to “transfer” with “access to”; and inserting a reference 
to “including” on a concessional and preferential basis. The facili-
tator cited Agenda 21 and suggested that the proposal would 
require ministerial attention. A developing country group objected 
to a reference to recognition that each country has primary respon-
sibility for its own development. A reference to common but differ-
entiated responsibilities is to be dealt with in a contact group on the 
Rio Principles.

In a paragraph on mobilizing the effective use of financial 
resources, one delegation informed the facilitator that he had 
omitted important text on encouraging countries to establish trans-
parent, participatory and accountable governance, and on the task 
of enhancing macro-economic policy. He proposed a new para-
graph on good governance, taken from the Monterrey Consensus. 
He objected to a proposal that the new paragraph be moved to the 
section on good governance.

A group of countries proposed an alternative subparagraph 
encouraging foreign direct investment and export credits “which 
are consistent” with sustainable development. After one delegation 
explained that its relevant banking institution would have legal 
problems with the proposed formulation, text was agreed on 
encouraging foreign direct investment, and export credits, that 
could be instrumental to sustainable development.

IN THE CORRIDORS
As negotiators in the Vienna-style setting continued to reiterate 

stated positions in open session, observers increasingly turned to 
speculation about whether or not there “is more or less to this 
meeting than meets the eye.” With closed informal discussions and 
bilaterals proliferating as the Main Committee surpassed the 
notional 9:00 pm deadline for completing discussions on the draft 
Plan of Implementation, the only evidence of what was taking 
place behind these doors were the barbed comments that some-
times crept into interventions in the Vienna setting. Seasoned 
conference watchers and delegates commented on the predictable 
pattern of frustration and speculation, as colleagues begin to iden-
tify the elements of a package consisting of trade-offs and conces-
sions for Ministerial consideration. 

NGO caucus groups were working hard to gather information 
on some of the crunch  issues such as trade, energy and climate 
change, and targets for elements such as renewable energy. Some 
highlighted their difficulties with interacting with delegates in the 
negotiation rooms, but expressed some relief at the resolution of 
the bigger problem of limited access to the conference center (for 
now).

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY
PARTNERSHIP PLENARIES: Partnership Plenaries on 

water and sanitation at 10:00 am and energy at 3:00 pm will be held 
in the Plenary Hall.

MAIN COMMITTEE: The Main Committee will meet at 
10:00 am in Exhibition 1. An announcement on the timing and 
conduct of the negotiations is expected.

CONTACT GROUP ON INSTITUTIONAL ARRANGE-
MENTS: The contact group will meet at 10:00 am in Committee 
Room 5. 

CONTACT GROUP ON MEANS OF IMPLEMENTA-
TION: Check the Journal for a meeting time and place. 



Wednesday, 28 August 2002  Vol. 22 No. 44 Page 4
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

The World Business Council for Sustainable Development (WBCSD)
and Greenpeace International organise a joint event

in Johannesburg:

Climate Change and the Kyoto Protocol

Wednesday, 28 August, 2002 
19:15-20:30

at the IUCN Environment Centre
NEDCOR Headquarters,

135 Rivona Road, Sandton

A joint call for action by the WBCSD and Greenpeace on the need for an international  framework to combat climate
change  will be presented at this event open to the press, government delegates, business, IGO and NGO repre-
sentatives.
Greenpeace is well known for its disagreements with, and campaigns against, the activities of some of the com-
panies who are members of the WBCSD.

The WBCSD is well known for advocating a market-based and free trade approach to solving environmental prob-
lems, including voluntary measures that often differ radically from Greenpeace approaches.

However WBCSD and Greenpeace share the same belief that the threat of human induced climate change requires
strong efforts and innovation by all sectors in a common international framework.

They have agreed to convene a dialogue to urge governments to act more forcefully to provide an international political
framework that enables, stimulates and rewards innovation and implementation. Together Greenpeace and WBCSD also
call on others in both the public and private sectors to step up action to combat the climate change risks.

Achim Steiner, Director-General of the IUCN  will moderate this unprecedented event.
Speakers:

 Rémi Parmentier, Political Director, Greenpeace International

 Bjorn Stigson, President, World Business Council for Sustainable Development
Joint Greenpeace-WBCSD Call for Action to combat climate change

Implementation - The Way Forward:
 Charles C. Nicholson, Group Senior Advisor, BP

 Steve Sawyer, Climate Policy Director, Greenpeace International

 Chris Boyd, Senior VP Environment and Public Affairs, Lafarge

 Dr. José Goldemberg, Secretary of State for Environment, State of São Paulo, Brazil

RSVP: Daniela Rosche, Greenpeace International in Johannesburg: 083 494 66 97and Shelley Hayes, WBCSD 083 468 86 75

 


